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Instructions: 
 
 This is a closed book exam.  Please write on only one side of a page in the answer booklet.  
Skipping lines may be beneficial for you should you decide to make a change in your answer and 
need space to insert writing between lines.  You are cautioned to read all questions fully before 
beginning.  Thereafter, you should approach each question by making an outline of your answer 
so as to best organize your response.  You may write your outline in a separate booklet.  The 
outline is for your purposes and will not be considered any part of the examination answer.  Pass 
in every booklet in which you write plus the exam sheets.  Write your student identification 
number, my name and the course title, on the front of each booklet.  Number each booklet.  
Insert booklets one inside the other, in order, when you pass in your exam. 
 
 Issue identification and discussion are most important.  You are cautioned to follow an 
orderly, step-by-step pattern of analysis in noting the issues you identify.  This will help keep you 
on track and better allow me to understand your analysis and answer.  Answer only the specific 
questions that are asked.   
 
 If you find an issue of law that you have previously identified and explained, do not repeat 
your discussion of law on that issue, but rather simply note the issue and proceed immediately to 
apply the law previously discussed to the new set of facts.  E.g., when you spot an issue, explain 
the applicable law (elements a, b, c, and d).  Then apply the law to the facts.  When you spot the 
same issue again, do not repeat your explanation of elements a, b, c and d, but rather state that you 
discussed this point already and proceed immediately to apply the law to the facts.   
 
 If you feel you do not have all the facts necessary to resolve a pertinent issue, note what 
additional information is needed and state your conclusion in the alternative.   
 
 All questions are of equal weight. 
  
 You have three hours to complete this exam, unless you specifically are otherwise 
directed. 
 
 

BEST WISHES AND HAVE A NICE SUMMER 
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QUESTION 1 
 
Helen has always been a resident of Massachusetts.  She executed a valid last will in 2015.  Under 
that valid will, she left her home to her son, Charles, a Bridgewater Savings bank account to her 
daughter, Alice, the sum of $120,000 to her daughter, Betty, and the sum of $5,000 to each of her 
grandchildren and great-grandchildren.  In 2018, Helen made handwritten changes on her 2015 
will.  She left alone the provisions regarding the house to Charles and the $120,000 to Betty.   She 
crossed out the words “Bridgewater Savings” and its account number, and replaced them with the 
name “Rockland Trust” and the account number for her account at that bank.  She also crossed out 
“and great-grandchildren” from the $5,000 bequests.  Helen initialed each place where she crossed 
out or wrote something onto the will document.  She then put a notation on the signature page of 
the will identifying the changes she had made and signed and dated that notation.   
 
Helen died owning her home, an account with a $100,00.00 balance at Bridgewater Savings under 
the account number that was contained in the 2015 will and crossed out, and an account with a 
$200,000.00 balance at Rockland Trust under the account number that she wrote into the will in 
place of the Bridgewater Savings account number that she crossed out.   
 
Helen was survived by all her children, Charles, Alice and Betty, six grandchildren and twelve 
great-grandchildren.   
 
How is Helen’s estate to be distributed?  Explain your answer. 
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QUESTION 2 
 
Tess died on December 3, 2018.  She was survived by six children and eight grandchildren.  Tess 
did not have a surviving spouse.    
 
On November 22, 2013, Tess had signed a three-page paper entitled “My Last Will & Testament.”  
The paper is in the form of a letter and is addressed “To all my children.”  Tess signed the letter at 
her kitchen table while she and her two friends, Maggie and Bess, were sitting there having 
morning coffee together.  The first sentence of the document reads as follows: “In the event that I 
don’t make it back from my safari trip to Africa in January, I wish to bequeath you all of the 
property & personal belongings divided equally to the six of you & to the seven grandchildren.”  
Tess did, in fact, survive the safari trip and lived for five more years before her death in 2018. 
 
In November, 2013, when Tess signed her letter, she had six children and seven grandchildren.  In 
2015, Tess’s son, Daniel, died, and an eighth grandchild to Tess, Elliot, was born to Daniel’s wife 
eight months after Daniel’s death.  In 2016, Raymond, one of Tess’s grandchildren living at the 
time of the signing of the letter, died, and a ninth grandchild, Frances, was born.  Tess therefore 
had six children and seven grandchildren living at the time her letter was signed, and at the time 
of her death, she had five living children and eight living grandchildren, albeit not including all of 
the seven grandchildren alive at the time of the signing of the letter. 
 
Last week, Tess’s daughter, Sara, duly executed and delivered to the personal representative of 
Tess’s estate, a disclaimer of her interest in her mother’s estate.  Sara is the mother of three of the 
surviving grandchildren. 
  
Describe the possibilities as to how Tess’s estate might be distributed based upon the above facts.  
Think of the issues and the possible ways they can go.  Consider what arguments might be raised, 
and by whom, to sway the final outcome in his, her or their favor?  Explain your answer.   
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QUESTION 3 
 
A. 
 
Rose leased land to David and Jean.  Section 3 of the lease agreement states that, at Rose's death, 
Rose's adopted daughter, Emily, shall step into her, Rose’s, shoes as landlord and have all Rose’s 
rights and obligations under the lease, including the right to receive lease payments.  Emily was 
not party to the lease.   
 
Rose has died, leaving a valid will which devises all her property to her significant other, Thomas.   
 
Following Rose's death, Thomas and Emily both have claimed ownership of Rose's rights and 
obligations under the lease.  
 
What are the respective arguments of Emily and Thomas?  Explain. 
 
 
B. 
 
Would it matter if Rose had given in her will a power of appointment to Emily, exercisable in 
favor of any one or more of Rose’s heirs at law?   
 
Explain how and why. 
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QUESTION 4 
 
Quentin has just died.  He had previously established a revocable trust, naming himself sole 
beneficiary for his lifetime, and naming “my wife, Julie,” successor life beneficiary, and his 
children, Luke, Mike and Nina, by his previous marriage to Mary, and Julie’s children, Jane and 
Jacob, by her previous marriage, equal remainder beneficiaries.  The trust was funded by Quentin 
with the personal residence in which he and Julie lived.  Quentin also had at the time of his death 
a 401k retirement account on which he had placed a death beneficiary designation naming “my 
wife, Julie” 100% beneficiary.  Lastly, Quentin had an old life insurance policy from 20 years ago 
with a death beneficiary designation naming “my wife, Mary” as 100% beneficiary.  Quentin’s 
only probate property at his death was his personal property that was worth no more than 
$5,000.00. 
 
Quentin and Julie divorced, signing a separation agreement containing a provision stating that they 
each waive any and all interest in any property or property rights of the other.  Quentin did not 
change his trust or the death beneficiary designation on either his 401k retirement account or his 
life insurance policy before he died. 
 
Quentin had no children by Julie.  Quentin was survived by all his children, Mary, Julie and both 
of Julie’s children. 
 
Quentin died in an auto accident in which he was at fault.  Julie was a passenger in his vehicle.  
She was severely injured with permanent disability requiring expensive care for the rest of her life.  
Her insurance will pay for only a portion of the cost and only for a limited period of time, leaving 
Julie personally liable for a significant portion of the cost. 
 
What rights in or claims against Quentin’s trust property, 401k retirement account and life 
insurance death proceeds does each survivor of Quentin have?  Explain your answer. 
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QUESTION 5 
 
George and Ethel were married with three children, Xena, Yogi and Zen.  It is a first marriage for 
each and neither had any other children.  Ethel died four years ago, survived by George and the 
three children.   
 
At her death, Ethel left a trust, funded at the time of her death, that provides that the trustee shall 
pay at least quarterly all net income, after administrative expenses chargeable to income, to George 
for the remainder of his lifetime, and the trustee shall also have discretion to pay to George 
principal in such amount or amounts from time to time as the trustee shall deem appropriate to 
provide for the comfortable support of George for the remainder of his life.  Further, the trust gave 
to George a general power of appointment exercisable in his last will to appointment the remainder 
of the trust at his death.  Xena is trustee of the trust. 
 
George and Xena had always had a difficult relationship, that only got worse after Ethel died.  
Xena was a “free spirit” who was too “free” for George’s liking.  When Xena was in her late teens 
and twenties, she experimented with drugs and it got out of control such that she landed in rehab 
a number of times, but she was always the apple of Ethel’s eye and she has been clean for the past 
twenty years.  George was still not fully comfortable that Xena had settled down and was on the 
straight and narrow.  George went to his lawyer and had a new will drafted leaving his entire estate 
in three equal shares, the shares for Yogi and Zen to go to them outright and free of trust, but 
directing Xena’s share into a trust to be administered by her cousin, Fred, who is a lawyer.  Fred 
and Xena get along well enough, but Xena was not happy with this turn of events when she 
happened to stumble upon a copy of George’s new will. 
 
When Xena learned of George’s will, she went to her own lawyer to have a new trust drawn up 
into which she decanted the property from her mother’s trust.  The new trust was the same as 
Ethel’s trust, except it did not contain the power of appointment to George and it directed 
distribution in equal shares to the three children free of trust upon George’s death. 
 
George has just died and his last will mentioned above has been admitted into probate.  The 
personal representative of George’s probate estate is Fred who is insisting that Xena’s share of her 
mother’s trust remainder be delivered to him as trustee for Xena.  Xena insists that George did not 
have a power of appointment at his death because of the decanting, and even if he did, he did not 
exercise it. 
 
A. Did George exercise the power of appointment given to him by Ethel?  Explain. 
 
B. Was the decanting by Xena valid?  Explain. 
 
C. Based upon your answers to A and B, how is Xena’s share of her mother’s trust to be 
handled?   
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Question 1. Three men, Huey, Dewey and Louie, enter a bar.  They order drinks, and after 
having had a few, Huey says that he was recently told by his doctor that he has incurable cancer 
and only a few days, at best, to live.  He says that he has appreciated all that Dewey and Louie 
have done for him, giving him moral and financial support when he had run into hard times, 
always being there for him through thick and thin, helping him and his children when his wife 
ran off to Hollywood leaving him with two young children.  Now he wanted to show his 
appreciation.  He ordered another round of drinks for the three of them, the best Scotch in the 
house, and gave a toast to his two best friends.   They drained their glasses.  Then Huey took a 
cocktail napkin, and borrowing a pen from the bartender, he wrote the following on the napkin: 
 

“Knowing that my time in this life is very short, and desiring to repay the two best 
men in the world for the kind generosity and support that they have shown to me 
and my family, I hereby give to Dewey and Louie my investment accounts with 
Trusty Investments, my IRA in the First National Bank, my Dodge Dart 
automobile and all my other tangible personal property, as little as that may be.  I 
do this freely of my own accord.” 

 
Huey then ordered a second round of the best Scotch, toasted his friends again and they all 
drained their glasses. 
 
Huey then turned to the patron sitting next to him at the bar and asked him to witness his 
signature to what he had written on the napkin.  Huey signed and the patron signed his name as 
witness.  Then Huey got up from his bar stool, and walked to a table of patrons sitting nearby, 
staggering a bit as he did so, and stated to patron number two seated there that he wished to 
repay his two best friends for their kindness and generosity, and that he had signed his name 
freely and voluntarily.  Patron number 2 then signed on the napkin, writing “witness” beneath his 
signature.  Huey thanked patron number two and returned to his friends at the bar.  Huey stood 
between them as they sat on their respective stools.  They embraced as Huey said: “I love you 
guys”.  As they released their embrace, Huey slipped to the floor dead. 
 
At the time of entering the bar, Huey did not have a will and his property consisted of his 
investment accounts at Trusty Investments, his IRA at First National Bank, his Dodge Dart, 
various items of other tangible personal property, and a savings account at Second Bank. 
 
Discuss all claims to ownership of the property listed in the preceding paragraph that can be 
raised, who can raise those claims, and the basis for such claims.  Do you have all the 
information you need?  If not, what is needed?  How might that information affect your answer?  
Explain, explain, explain. 
 
  



Question 2. Professor Wonderful, unmarried and without children, was greatly admired by all 
his students.  They looked up to him for his keen legal mind, witty sense of humor and 
inspiration to all who were around him.  Professor Wonderful was nearing the end of his 
illustrious teaching career and wanted to provide one final inspiration to his students.  So, he 
drafted his last will which was duly executed.  At his death, his estate was of sufficient size to be 
able to pay all bequests. 
 
A.  The will provides: “I leave the sum of $10,000 to each student in my Wills and Trust class 
this coming semester who attains a final grade of B or better.”  When the semester began, 
Professor Wonderful announced to his students what he had written in his last will.  All semester, 
the students studied wills and trusts very diligently while images of $10,000 danced in their 
heads each night as they slept.  Finally, the semester came to a close and Professor Wonderful 
graded the exams.  A quarter of the students received grades of a B or better.  That night, 
Professor Wonderful lay in bed before falling asleep, musing to himself that he was not really 
being cruel to his students.  No, no.  Rather, he was teaching them an important lesson that hard 
work is its own reward.  Professor Wonderful went peacefully to sleep that night, but he never 
awoke.  His will was admitted to probate without contest.  The students who received a grade of 
B or better claimed their $10,000 each from the Professor’s estate.   
 
Did Professor Wonderful teach one final lesson to his students, or was the joke of him?  Are they 
entitled to $10,000 each?  Why, why not?  What are the arguments for and against?  Explain. 
 
B.  Professor Wonderful’s last will contained a further provision as follows: “I leave $50,000 for 
my neighbor, Johnny, who has faithfully mowed my lawn and shoveled my walk for the past 
four years, to be used for his higher education, now that he is a senior in high school.”  Johnny 
graduated from high school and was accepted to college, but he died three days after Professor 
Wonderful.  Johnny was 18 when he died, and he left a will stating: “I leave all my property and 
all interests in property to which I am entitled to my little brother, Tiny Tim, to be used to pay 
for the operation he needs so he will be able to walk.” 
 
What disposition is to be made of the above $50,000?  Take it step by step from Professor 
Wonderful’s estate.  Consider competing claims.  Explain. 
 
C.  The final paragraph to Professor Wonderful’s will states: “I leave all the rest and remainder 
of my estate to the Animal Rescue League of Essex County and my housekeeper, Mabel, share 
and share alike.”  However, there is no organization by the name of Animal Rescue League of 
Essex County.   
 
What happens to the rest and remainder of Professor Wonderful’s estate?  Consider who might 
have a claim and the basis of any such claim.  Explain your answer. 
 
  



Question 3. Jason and Vickie are married and florists.  They have always been intrigued by 
the subtle scents of various flowers and how they could be melded together to create still new 
scents.  Often, after they closed their florist shop for the day, they would spend hours in their 
shop smelling different combinations of flowers.  They pressed flower petals together, mixing 
their oils and comparing the different scents.  In time, their older daughter, Liza, joined them, 
and together they developed formulas for different perfumes.  Liza then suggested that they 
develop scents for soaps and skin lotions.  The three formed a company, Sweet Scents, Inc. 
(SSI), to market their products.  Soon, those products gained prominent position in the scented 
products market.  Jason and Vickie’s other two children, Martin and Mary, do not work in the 
business.  Each Jason, Vickie and Liza own one-third of the company’s shares.  Over the years, 
Jason and Vickie declined numerous offers to buy the company.  Liza wanted to sell her shares, 
but buyers insisted on receiving a majority share.  Jason and Vickie believed that their success 
was in their personal attention to every detail of research and production. They also were very 
frugal, preferring to keep the company’s profits within the company for reinvestment. As a 
consequence, the company has almost no debt. An appraiser recently valued the company at 
$100 million.  
 
A.  Suppose Jason dies intestate.  Describe the likely distribution of his estate.  Explain why. 
 
B.  How would your answer to Question A change, if at all, if in return for Liza’s drawing a 
minimal salary, Jason and Vickie had promised her that they each would leave her one-half of 
their shares in the Company.  Explain. 
 
Regardless of your answer to Questions A and B, for the remaining questions assume the 
following additional facts. When Jason and Vickie decided to retire, they made Liza the CEO of 
SSI.  Shortly thereafter they signed an irrevocable trust agreement naming themselves as co-
trustees, the survivor as sole successor trustee, and their lawyer, Fred, as the next successor 
trustee.  Fred drafted the trust instrument.  They funded the trust with their shares in SSI.  At the 
same time, they duly executed mirror-image wills in which they each left all their property to the 
then acting trustee of the irrevocable trust.  The trust instrument provides that, “during the life of 
the settlors, or their survivor, the trustee may distribute so much of the income and principle to 
either settlor as the trustee determines is in the best interests of the settlors.”  The trust instrument 
further provides that, on the death of both settlors, the net income is to be paid quarterly to Liza, 
Martin, and Mary in equal shares, and that the trustee “shall have sole and absolute discretion to 
distribute principal to such of our children as the trustee determines is necessary for the child’s 
health, education, support or maintenance.”  The trust has a spendthrift clause and provides that 
“no trustee shall be liable except for bad faith.”  The trust also states that “the prudent investor 
rule shall not apply to this trust.  We strongly urge (but do not require) the trustees to retain any 
shares of Sweet Scents, Inc., that are received from us.”  
 
C.  Suppose that, a week after Jason and Vickie established the trust, Jason hit a pedestrian, 
Paula, with his car, seriously injuring her.  Jason was at fault.  Discuss what rights and remedies, 
if any, that Paula might have against Jason’s interest in the trust.  Explain. 
 
D.  Suppose Jason and Vickie both die two weeks after establishing the trust.  What happens 
with the trust property now and going forward to eventual trust termination?  Explain. 



Question 4. Refer back to the facts in the preceding Question.  Regardless of your answers in 
that Question, for purposes of this Question, assume that Jason and Vickie are dead, that the trust 
is valid, and that it was funded with all of Jason and Vickie’s stock in SSI.  
 
A.  Suppose Fred asked for your advice about his fiduciary obligations with respect to the 
management of the trust property. What would you tell him?  Explain. 
 
B.  How would your answer to Question A change, if at all, if Liza located a buyer for SSI and a 
reputable investment bank had opined that the price, to be paid in cash, was fair?  Explain. 
 
C.  How would your answer to Questions A and B change, if at all, if the trust instrument 
provided that “we direct that no trustee shall ever divest the trust’s shares in SSI. No court shall 
ever allow deviation from this direction.”  Explain. 
 
D.  Suppose that, as trustee, Fred continued to vote the trust’s shares in SSI in favor of keeping 
Liza as CEO.  In that capacity, Liza continued the practice of her parents of keeping company 
profits within the company.  At the same time, Fred refused Martin and Mary’s requests for a 
distribution of principal.  Discuss what rights and remedies, if any, that Martin and Mary might 
have against Fred.  Explain. 
 
E.  How would your answer to Question D change, if at all, if at the relevant time Fred was also 
the primary outside counsel for SSI?  Explain. 
 
F.  How would your answer to Questions D and E change, if at all, if Martin was in severe 
financial distress and about to go bankrupt?  Explain. 
 
 
  



Question 5. Herb and Wanda were married.  It was a second marriage for each of them.  They 
each have children of their respective first marriages.  Neither of them has had any child since.  
Herb died fifteen years ago, survived by his wife, Wanda, and three children, Andy, Bandy and 
Candy.  He left a valid will that was probated.  Herb’s will reads in part: 
 

“I leave my interest in my personal residence at 123 Main St., Andover, MA, that 
I own as tenants by the entirety with my beloved wife, Wanda, to my children, 
Andy, Bandy and Candy, if they survive me, or to their respective children by 
right of representation.  I leave my solely owned oceanfront home in Palm Beach, 
FL, to my said wife, Wanda, for life, remainder to such of my children as my 
wife, Wanda, shall appoint in her last will making specific reference to this power 
of appointment, and provided her said will shall have been admitted to probate no 
later than six months after her death, or otherwise to my children equally, or to 
their respective children by right of representation.” 

 
 Wanda died seven years ago, leaving a last will which was admitted to probate four 
months after her death.  Wanda was survived by her two children, Donna and Elsa.  Wanda’s 
will provides in part: 
 

“I hereby exercise that certain power of appointment given to me by my late 
husband Herb’s last will over his oceanfront home in Palm Beach, FL, in favor 
of my step-son, Andy, for his life, remainder to such of my issue as he shall 
appoint by deed or will.  I leave all the rest and remainder of my property to my 
children by right of representation.” 

 
 Andy died five months ago, leaving a last will which was admitted to probate last week.  
He was survived by his children, Xavier, Yolanda and Zeke, and by Bandy, Candy, Donna, Elsa 
and Donna’s daughter, Flo.  His will reads in part: 
 

“I leave all the rest and remainder of my estate, wherever situated and including 
all interests and partial interests in property to which I am entitled, to my step-
mother Wanda’s granddaughter, Flo.” 

 
A.  Who holds, or has a viable claim to, what interest in, or power over, each of the MA and FL 
properties at Herb’s death?   
 
B.  Who holds, or has a viable claim to, what interest in, or power over, each of the MA and FL 
properties at Wanda’s death?   
 
C.  Who holds, or has a viable claim to, what interest in, or power over, each of the MA and FL 
properties at Andy’s death?   
 
Caution:  What additional information do you need?  Present arguments in the alternative as 
needed.   Explain, explain, explain. 
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QUESTION 1 
 
 Fred never married, he had no children or siblings, and his parents were both deceased. 
However, during his seventy-four years he formed many close friendships with various 
colleagues and their families, as well as with brothers Bill and John, long-time patients he had 
treated since childhood.  
 In April, 2017, Fred’s health was deteriorating due to a terminal illness.  He had surgery 
to remove a metastasized tumor.  He was immediately transferred to a rehab hospital.  He died 
ten days later on April 21, 2017. 
 Fred and Bill shared an especially close relationship. Fred was very active in guiding 
Bill’s education, assisted in finding him employment, sometimes supplemented his income, and 
often traveled with him, especially to Anguilla; Bill resided with Fred at certain times, drove 
Fred to doctor visits, regularly visited with him during the early stages of his illness in 2016 and 
2017, brought Fred his mail while he was convalescing at a friend’s home, and was very 
involved in the planning, design, and building of Fred’s Anguilla home.  However, between 
February 26, 2017, and April 18, 2017, the final months of Fred’s illness, Bill neither telephoned 
nor visited Fred after a disagreement between the two men in February, 2017, regarding Bill’s 
dire financial situation.  In March, 2017, Fred expressed to his Attorney that he felt that Bill was 
not capable of handling the caretaking of his (Fred’s) Anguilla property and wanted to place the 
property in a trust. 
 On March 12, 2017, Attorney met Fred at the rehab hospital to discuss placing the 
Anguilla property into a trust, removing Bill as a beneficiary of the tangible items listed in his 
will, and nominating his colleague, Rachelle, as personal representative of his estate.  Fred met 
again with Attorney at the rehab hospital on April 9, 2017, to discuss and execute the newly 
drafted codicil to Fred’s October 21, 2014, will, and a new health care proxy.  Fred’s signature 
on each instrument was witnessed by two staff members of the rehab hospital. 
 On April 12, 2017, Attorney returned to the rehab hospital with two of his employees to 
witness Fred’s signing, which they did.  Fred acknowledged and signed the trust and deed into 
trust; he next signed his revised will and then signed the beneficiary designation form for his 
IRA, changing the beneficiary from Bill to the daughters of a colleague.  Fred had had a long 
history of interest and devotion to these sisters and provided them past financial gifts, provided 
advice on their educational choices, and attended school graduations.  Fred named them 
beneficiaries of his trust.  However, Fed declined, upon Attorney inquiry, to remove Bill and 
John as residuary beneficiaries under the will.  Fred was gaunt and appeared to be in periodic 
pain during the signing process, but he appeared to follow the discussion in a manner consistent 
with prior meetings, making regular eye contact and appropriate responses to questions.  Fred’s 
medical records show some “instances of confusion” in the days leading up to, and following, 
the execution of his will and change in beneficiary designation. 
 Bill is challenging the validity of Fred’s April 12, 2017, will, trust and death beneficiary 
designation on grounds of capacity. 
  
Discuss applicable test(s) of capacity and burden of proof.  What is your assessment as to 
validity of each legal instrument in question?  Explain your answer. 
  



3 
 

QUESTION 2 
 
 Eva  was 87 years old when she died.  She had practiced bankruptcy law for 54 years.  
Although her body was weakening with age, she was still mentally acute to the end and she knew 
what she wanted.  When she died, she was sitting upright propped up with pillows on her bed, 
laptop computer on the bed beside her with printer on her bedside stand within arm’s reach of the 
bed.  In one hand was a pen and in the other was a document that was printed and read as 
follows: 
 
 “Today is May 1, 2017.  I am dying.  My end is imminent.  This is what I want.  I give all 
my non-retirement investments and bank accounts and certificates of deposit to my dear son, 
Todd, to provide for his little nieces, my grandchildren, the daughters of my own sweet daughter, 
Deborah, who, with her devoted husband, was abruptly taken from us by that horrible car 
accident last week, that he, Tom, may have the financial ability to care for those sweet little girls 
in his home which has been a place of such sadness since Tom’s loss of his job and his girlfriend 
who ran away with his dog.  All the rest and remainder of my property I leave as I have 
previously arranged.” 
 
 This paper has a signature line at the end.  The word “Eva” is very unevenly but legibly 
written at somewhat of an angle down to the right from the signature line.  There is a further 
mark on the page, but it is illegible, with just a line running down off the page. 
 
 Eva left a valid will that was dated in 2014, previous to the document in her hand at 
death.  Her computer indicates that the document in her hand was last saved just minutes before 
her death.  The earlier will leaves all Eva’s estate to the Animal Rescue League of 
Massachusetts.  It was written in a happier time, when Tom was a successful salesman for a 
pharmaceutical company and Deborah was a leading bankruptcy lawyer in her own right. 
 
 Until she prepared the May 1, 2017, document, Eva owned investment accounts, bank 
accounts and certificates of deposit, all in her individual name alone and without any death 
beneficiary designation.  She owned a life estate in her condominium home and her son and 
daughter owned the remainder interest which they held as joint tenants.  Eva also owned a 
retirement account that named her son and daughter as equal tenants in common beneficiaries.  
Lastly, Eva was receiving Social Security retirement benefits. 
 
 The Animal Rescue League of Massachusetts has offered the 2014 will into probate and 
there is no basis to challenge its admission into probate, unless there is a subsequent will.  Tom 
asks you whether the document found clutched in his mother’s dead hand is a valid will.   
 
What can he do?  Is there any way to fulfill Eva’s dying wish for her sweet little grandchildren?  
Explain your answer. 
 
  



4 
 

QUESTION 3 
 
 Priscilla died intestate in 2014; her husband, James Cotgageorge (James), had 
predeceased her.  Priscilla and James had two children during their marriage: a daughter, Jamie, 
who enjoyed a close relationship with Priscilla, and a son, Michael.  Edward was Priscilla's 
stepson, and except for a few short visits and a summer spent living with her and James in 
Marblehead, Edward lived across the country and was generally uninvolved in the family affairs. 
 
 Prior to her death, Priscilla established a valid trust with Bank of America as 
trustee.  Priscilla established the trust in November, 2007, by signing a trust agreement and 
schedule of beneficiaries with Bank of America. The parties stipulated that while Priscilla had 
signed the trust agreement, the handwriting on the Bank of America account funding the trust 
was not hers. The trust’s schedule of beneficiaries named her husband, James, as the sole 
primary beneficiary, and named two people as contingent beneficiaries: “James Cotgageorge, 
Jr.” was to receive a sixty-six percent share, and “J. Edward Cotyup” was to receive the other 
thirty-four percent share. Each was identified as Priscilla's “son,” but no Social Security number 
or date of birth was entered for either of them. In addition, Priscilla's Social Security number was 
incorrectly recorded on the schedule which showed her as the income beneficiary for her 
lifetime. The parties stipulated that “J. Edward Cotyup” was a reference to Edward.  No person 
with the name “James Cotgageorge, Jr.” exists in either Priscilla's or James's families. 
 
 In October, 2016, two years after Priscilla's death, Bank of America notified Edward that 
he was entitled to both shares of the trust and that it intended to pay him the full account balance.  
Jamie, as Personal Representative of Priscilla's estate, then sought to prevent Bank of 
America from distributing the sixty-six percent share to Edward, claiming in a letter that she 
believed that share “must be made payable to the estate of Priscilla.”  In December, Bank of 
America agreed to refrain from distributing the trust property pending the filing of a complaint 
for instructions and a subsequent court order.  Bank of America took no position on the question 
of who was entitled to the share, stating only that it would pay it to whomever the court 
determined was the proper beneficiary. Subsequently, on May 5, 2017, Jamie filed a complaint 
for instructions in the Probate and Family Court.  While Jamie initially asked for a declaratory 
judgment that Bank of America pay the share into Priscilla's estate, she subsequently abandoned 
that strategy, intervened in her individual capacity, and sought payment of the share directly to 
herself instead of to her mother's estate. 
 
 The parties agreed that Edward was entitled to the thirty-four percent share; however, 
Jamie and Edward each testified at trial to his or her belief that he or she was the person 
incorrectly recorded as “James, Jr.”  Following trial, the judge found that Jamie had not proved 
that the trust beneficiary form did not reflect Priscilla's intent. The judge found “no evidence to 
prove that the beneficiaries on the form were not as Priscilla intended or that Priscilla intended to 
distribute any of the trust funds to Jamie.”  Priscilla was a legal secretary and the wife of a local 
attorney.  
 
How is the 66% share to be distributed?  Explain your answer. 
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QUESTION 4 
 
 Harry is widowed and has one son, Jacob.  Harry is financially secure, but his health is 
declining and he is contemplating his death.  Harry therefore has his attorney prepare and Harry 
signs the following writing: 
 

 "I hereby transfer my entire stock portfolio to Federal Trust Company in trust 
for my son, Jacob.  All income shall be payable to Jacob during his lifetime 
and the remainder shall be payable to Harry’s grandchildren who survive him.  
Also, during his lifetime, Jacob shall have the right to withdraw up to 5% of 
the then principal balance of the trust.  However, no beneficiary under this trust 
shall have the right to transfer or alienate his or her interest in the trust prior to 
actual receipt or distribution from the trust, and no beneficial interest shall be 
subject to claims of any creditor of a beneficiary.  Settlor hereby reserves the 
right to revoke this trust in writing delivered to the trustee." 

 
 Subsequently, Jacob married Lisa and they had a daughter, Emily.  Jacob and Lisa then 
divorced and Lisa was awarded alimony and child support for Emily.  Jacob has no assets and his 
only income is what he receives from his father's trust.  Jacob therefore depends upon the trust 
income for his own support.  He is, however, willing to resolve his support obligations through a 
lump sum payment to Lisa if he can receive the full proceeds from the trust.   
 
 Lisa is willing to accept a lump sum payment, or otherwise she is looking for the income 
and any portion of principal that she can secure from the trust through Jacob.  The trust income is 
insufficient to meet Jacob's obligation to Lisa, and so Lisa is demanding all of the income from 
the trust directly from the trustee and she is insisting that Jacob exercise his right of withdrawal 
from the trust to the full extent needed to fulfill the support obligations that are due to her.   
 
 When Harry learns of Jacob's situation, he immediately telephones Federal Trust 
Company and informs them: "My trust is hereby revoked."  Harry then immediately sat down 
and wrote out a confirmatory letter to Federal Trust Company, but the stress of the situation was 
too much for him: he had a heart attack and died immediately.  The letter to Federal Trust 
Company was found clutched in his hands when his body was discovered on the floor.  Harry 
died intestate.   
 
 Not certain of the legal ramifications of all that has transpired, Jacob prepared and 
delivered to Federal Trust Company a written notice signed by him in his behalf, and signed by 
him and Lisa in behalf of Emily, stating that the trust is terminated. 
 
 Federal Trust Company, as trustee, Jacob on his own behalf, and Lisa in behalf of Emily 
have presented a joint petition to the probate court for a determination as to the status of the trust 
property and rights therein.   
 
Who has what rights to the property?  Explain your answer. 
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QUESTION 5 
 
 In 1994, Beth duly executed her will devising "All my property, and all property over 
which I hold a power of appointment, to Charlie". 
 In 1996, Tess duly executed her will devising her residuary estate "to such person or 
persons as my sister, Beth, shall by her last will appoint." 
 In 1998, Beth died. 
 In 2000, Tess died.   
 Charlie claims the residue of Tess' estate.   
Is he entitled to it?  How would you argue for him; what legal theory or theories would you 
argue?  Why? 
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 You have three hours to complete this exam, unless you specifically are otherwise 

directed. 
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Question 1 

 

J.R. and Sue Ellen were married, with a son, John Ross III.  J.R. and Sue Ellen had separate, 

valid wills which state:  “I leave all my property to my spouse if my spouse survives me.  If my 

spouse does not survive me, I leave all to our son, John Ross III.” 

 

J.R. was diagnosed with cancer and he underwent chemo and radiation treatment.  Treatment did 

not go well, and J.R.’s health started failing rapidly.  Doctors told him he had only weeks to live.  

J.R. decided to make the most of what time he had left.  By that, he meant fun. 

 

He had been having an on-and-off affair with his secretary, Mary Louise.  Sue Ellen had 

previously suspected the affair, but J.R. denied it.  Believing he was dying, J.R. decided to have 

one final rendezvous with Mary Louise.  Sue Ellen found out and went to confront them at the 

hotel she was told they had gone to the night before.  When Sue Ellen found J.R. and Mary 

Louise in the hotel restaurant eating breakfast, she approached them, screaming at J.R., “How 

could you?”  Sue Ellen saw a steak knife on the table and picked it up and held it out pointed at 

J.R.  Mary Louise reached into her handbag and took out a gun.  She ordered Sue Ellen to drop 

the knife.  Sue Ellen looked at her, Sue Ellen’s face filled with rage, and then she suddenly 

lunged at J.R. with the steak knife stabbing him in the neck, severing his carotid artery.  J.R. died 

in minutes.  At the same time, Mary Louise fired her handgun twice, two bullets striking Sue 

Ellen, who died a week later.  Just before he gasped his last breath, J.R. held out his arm toward 

Mary Louise saying, “I want you to have this watch.”  It was a brand new gold Rolex. 

 

Nine months later, Mary Louise gave birth to a girl, Cheryl, J.R.’s daughter.  John Ross survived 

both his parents. 

 

J.R. and Sue Ellen’s property on that fateful morning consisted of the following: 

A.   their home, held as tenants by the entirety; 

B.   J.R.’s IRA naming Sue Ellen as primary beneficiary and John Ross as secondary beneficiary; 

C.   an automobile title to which was in J.R.’s name alone; 

D.   a checking account in J.R.’s name alone; 

E.   a checking account in the joint names of J.R. and Sue Ellen; 

F.   a trust of which J.R. was grantor funded with various stocks naming J.R. as beneficiary for  

      his life and John Ross remainder beneficiary; and, 

G.  J.R.’s Rolex watch.  

 

How is each item of the above property to be distributed, tracing it to its final disposition to a 

living taker?  Explain your answer. 

 

  



Question 2 

 

Jack died in Massachusetts a resident of Andover, Massachusetts.  He left a valid will held by his 

attorney for safe keeping.  The will states that he leaves all his property to his second wife, Judy, 

trusting she will treat his children properly in her last will.  This will is dated May 19, 2008. 

 

Found among Jack’s papers in his desk at his Andover home, following his death, is a form will 

from the internet, preprinted with blanks filled in in Jack’s handwriting, as follows: 

 

“I leave my home to my wife, Judy, so that she may appoint it to or among any of my 

children as she shall deem best.  I leave all my other possessions to my children to share and 

share alike.” 

 

There is no attestation language or notary acknowledgement on the document.  Jack signed the 

document at the end.  Opposite Jack’s signature is the date July 1, 2010. 

 

Both wills were made while Jack was a resident of Montana, a holographic will jurisdiction. 

 

Jack is survived by his wife, Judy, and his children Abby, Betty and Charley. 

 

Following Jack’s death, Judy lived in the Andover home for the remainder of her life without 

interference from Jack’s children, and she has just died, leaving a valid will which reads in its 

entirety as follows:   

 

“After payment of my just debts, I leave all my property to my daughter, Debby.” 

 

Prior to her death, Judy had run up a large credit card debt.  Judy had had difficulty trying to pay 

it down, and so her daughter, Debby, had assisted her with payments.  Nonetheless, Judy left a 

balance of $100,000 in credit card debt, even after exhausting her probate estate.  The credit card 

company sued and obtained judgment against Judy before she died.  Now they are suing Judy’s 

estate and Debby to recover the Andover home for Judy’s estate so it can be applied to the debt. 

 

Who has what claim to the Andover home?  Explain. 

 

  



Question 3 

 

Frank and Gert are married.  Each has a valid will.  Frank’s will recites that he leaves all his 

property in trust to be established by the personal representative of his estate, as trustee, for the 

benefit of all their children.  Gert’s will leaves all her property to “whatever trust is established 

under the last will of my husband, Frank.” 

 

Frank and Gert have 3 children, Helen, 14 years old, Iris, 12 years old, and John, 10 years old.  

Neither Frank nor Gert has any other child. 

 

Frank, Gert and John have been in an auto accident.  Frank was pronounced dead at the scene.  

Gert survived and was transported to the hospital where she was pronounced dead one week 

later.  John survived, but is permanently disabled. 

 

Frank and Gert’s assets consist of their home, nonretirement investments, a bank account, CD’s, 

and two automobiles.  All property is jointly held.  They had no debts. 

 

John is eligible for public benefits.  The guardian of the children wants to maximize resources 

for all the children.  If John takes from his parents, he will lose his public benefits, and there will 

be fewer resources for the other children.  The guardian, in John’s behalf, is not agreeable to 

reformation of the trust to remove John as beneficiary so as to free up funds for spending on the 

other children.  John’s public benefits will be sufficient to provide for John’s care, without 

reliance upon trust money. 

 

Questions: 

What is disposition of Frank’s property on his death? 

What is disposition of Gert’s property on her death? 

Is there a valid trust for the children? 

If so, may the trust be reformed? 

Does it need to be reformed? 

Explain, explain, explain. 

 

 

  



Question 4 

 

Tom is 83 years old and he has two children, Sandy and Donna.  Sandy is married with children.  

Donna is single with no children.  Sandy visits Tom frequently and on a regular basis, taking him 

to doctor's appointments, for visits with her family, and just out and about spending time with 

him.  She helps him with his bills and his finances.  Donna, on the other hand, has for years been 

fighting an opioid addiction that she developed as a result of prescription pain killers following a 

serious injury.  She has been in and out of rehab.  She has dated many men, never finding “Mr. 

Right”.  She lived with a man for a while and got pregnant, but she had an abortion.  She has also 

been arrested once for drug possession, but was placed on probation because it was her first 

offense.  Tom does not wish to give her means to access illegal drugs. 

 

Tom desires to do the right thing, but he is concerned about Donna’s drug habit.  Sandy suggests 

to her Dad that he leave a gift in trust for Donna, provided Donna demonstrates that she is drug 

free for a continuous period of five years beginning with the date of the trust.  When Donna 

learns of this suggestion, she protests saying that it is unfair because it is so hard to kick the 

habit.  Nonetheless, Tom likes Sandy’s suggestion and goes to his attorney.  The trust states: 

 

“The trustee shall manage and distribute the trust’s property for my benefit for my 

lifetime, and upon my death, my trustee shall distribute one-half to my daughter, Sandy, 

or her heirs by right of representation, and the other half shall be retained in trust for my 

daughter, Donna, or for her heirs by right of representation, provided, however, that this 

share is given on the condition that no distribution shall be made to a rightful beneficiary 

unless and until he or she demonstrates that he or she has been free of all illicit drugs for 

a continuous period of five years from this date forward.  My trustee shall have full 

discretion as to when, to whom and in what amounts distributions shall be made on the 

aforesaid condition."   

 

Tom signs and funds the trust.  The trustee signs and accepts the funding.  Tom passes away 

immediately. 

 

For two years after the date of Tom’s signing of his trust, Donna has been free of all illicit drugs.    

At that time, which is after tom’s death, Donna learns that her best friend, Paula, has died of a 

drug overdose, leaving behind her fourteen year-old daughter, Linda, who has started 

experimenting with drugs.  Linda's father is deceased.   

 

Wishing to help Linda, and hoping it will be a help to herself, Donna legally adopts Linda.  

Together, they stay straight for about another year and one-half, which is now four and one-half 

years after Tom signed his trust.  At that time, Donna is unable to overcome temptation, and she 

again uses illicit drugs.  Sandy, who has already received her one-half share from the trust, now 

claims that Donna has forfeited the bequest left to her in the trust, and Sandy claims that 

remaining trust share.  Donna comes to you for assistance saying she really needs her mother's 

bequest to help support not only herself, but Linda too. 

 

Who has what rights under the trust?  What is the duty of the trustee under the terms of the trust?  

Explain your answer.   



Question 5 

 

Tyler Tycoon had Anna Attorney draft for him a trust to be funded with $500,000.00.  The trust 

was to provide for his niece and nephew, paying them the income for life, and upon the death of 

the second of them to die, the trust was to terminate and pay the principal to their children 

equally.  Anna drew up the trust as stated above, and it further provided that: "A Trustee shall 

not be liable for any error of judgment nor for any loss arising out of any act or omission in the 

administrations of the trust so long as the Trustee acts in good faith, but shall be responsible only 

for his or her own willful breach of trust.” 

 

Tyler asked Anna to serve as trustee and she accepted.  Anna had no investment experience so 

she hired an investment advisor, Sid, who devised an investment strategy, reviewed the same 

with Anna and obtained Anna's direction to proceed.  Anna delegated to him authority to change 

investments as he deemed proper from time to time.  Sid made various investment purchases and 

changed them from time to time.  In accordance with the terms of the trust, Sid has been sending 

annual accountings to Anna, and in her behalf, to Tyler’s niece and nephew, fully setting forth all 

trust transactions and all distributions to the income beneficiaries.   

 

For his services, Sid has been receiving a commission on purchases and sales of investments and 

also a fee for related services such as preparing special reports and tax returns for the trust.  The 

amounts of the fees and commissions charged by Sid are commensurate with what is charged by 

other investment advisors in the area.  Sid has generally been considered for many years by the 

investment advisor world to be a competent and ethical investment advisor and money manager. 

 

The income beneficiaries have always signified in writing their approval and acceptance of trust 

accountings.  Over the years, the trust has realized some significant losses due to some ill-chosen 

investments.  At one point, Sid invested 20% of the trust portfolio in the stock of Flash 

Corporation which Sid believed was an undervalued stock.  Shortly after that investment, the 

stock began to rise as Sid had expected, but yet a while later, Flash suffered a substantial loss of 

business due to a faulty product and its stock dropped rapidly.  Sid feared a wipeout as to that 

investment and so he sold all of the Flash stock, resulting in a loss of 50% of the original 

investment in Flash stock.  The investment and loss on sale were all fully disclosed on his 

accountings to Anna and the income beneficiaries.  As with the other accountings, the 

beneficiaries signed off on these accountings as well.   Yet another six months later, Flash 

Corporation began to recover and when it came out with a new product, it was a big hit and its 

stock value skyrocketed.  At this time, Tyler’s niece and nephew were killed in a car accident. 

 

Now with the deaths of Tyler’s niece and nephew, the trust is to terminate.  A final accounting is 

sent out to the remaindermen beneficiaries asking them to give their assent so that final 

distribution of the remainder interest in the trust may be made to them.  It is at this point that the 

remaindermen beneficiaries first learn that Sid is the son of Anna.  The Flash stock is now worth 

one and one-half (1½) times the value that it had when Sid first invested in it. 

 

The remaindermen beneficiaries are upset, feeling that their remainder interest should be higher 

than it is.  They come to you for advice.  Advise them fully.  Explain your answer. 
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